UNIVERSIDADE TECNOLÓGICA FEDERAL DO PARANÁ PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ENGENHARIA ELÉTRICA

SÉRGIO MATSUE FILHO

ESTABILIZAÇÃO DE SISTEMAS NÃO LINEARES COM SALTOS MARKOVIANOS

DISSERTAÇÃO

CORNÉLIO PROCÓPIO

2018

SÉRGIO MATSUE FILHO

ESTABILIZAÇÃO DE SISTEMAS NÃO LINEARES COM SALTOS MARKOVIANOS

Dissertação apresentada ao Programa de Pósgraduação em Engenharia Elétrica da Universidade Tecnológica Federal do Paraná como requisito parcial para obtenção do grau de "Mestre em Engenharia Elétrica" – Área de Concentração: Sistemas Eletrônicos Industriais.

Orientador: Alessandro do Nascimento Vargas

CORNÉLIO PROCÓPIO

 $\boldsymbol{2018}$

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação

M434 Matsue Filho, Sérgio

Estabilização de sistemas não lineares com saltos Markovianos / Sérgio Matsue Filho. - 2018.

29 f. : il. color. ; 31 cm.

Orientador: Alessandro do Nascimento Vargas.

Dissertação (Mestrado) – Universidade Tecnológica Federal do Paraná. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia Elétrica. Cornélio Procópio, 2018.

Bibliografia: p. 27-29.

1. Estabilidade. 2. Sistemas não-lineares. 3. Markov, Processos de. 4. Engenharia Elétrica – Dissertações. I. Vargas, Alessandro do Nascimento, orient. II. Universidade Tecnológica Federal do Paraná. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia Elétrica. III. Título.

CDD (22. ed.) 621.3



Ministério da Educação Universidade Tecnológica Federal do Paraná Câmpus Cornélio Procópio Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia Elétrica



TERMO DE APROVAÇÃO Título da Dissertação Nº 49:

"Estabilização de sistemas não lineares com saltos Markovianos".

por

Sérgio Matsue Filho

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Alessandro do Nascimento Vargas

Esta dissertação foi apresentada como requisito parcial à obtenção do grau de MESTRE EM ENGENHARIA ELÉTRICA – Área de Concentração: Sistemas Eletrônicos Industriais, pelo Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia Elétrica – PPGEE – da Universidade Tecnológica Federal do Paraná – UTFPR – Câmpus Cornélio Procópio, às 9h do dia 27 de Outubro de 2018. O trabalho foi aprovado pela Banca Examinadora, composta pelos professores:

Prof. Dr. Alessandro do Nascimento Vargas Prof. Dr. Cristiano Marcos Agulhari UTFPR-CP

Prof. Dr. Eduardo Fontoura Costa USP-SC

Visto da coordenação:

Prof. Dr. Alessandro do Nascimento Vargas Coordenador do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia Elétrica UTFPR Câmpus Cornélio Procópio

A Folha de Aprovação assinada encontra-se na Coordenação do Programa.

AGRADECIMENTOS

Primeiramente quero agradecer meus pais, Sérgio e Yeda, meu avô João e a minha família no geral, pelo incentivo, paciência e todo o resto.

Em seguida a todos os professores que passaram por mim, em especial à professora Renata, pois, sem ela eu provavelmente não teria nem tentado entrar neste mestrado.

Também a galera da mesa: principalmente ao Alisson, Daiane, Juliana, Paulo, Tuti, Wendel e demais pessoas que eventualmente também estavam lá pra dar aquele apoio moral.

Ainda, agradecimentos ao meu orientador professor Vargas, que me guiou durante a construção deste trabalho e me ensinou a estar confiante. Também meus agradecimentos ao professor Cristiano, que sempre se dispôs a me ajudar quando precisei.

Aos meus colegas de mestrado que me ajudaram muito em dificuldades durante as disciplinas: Cris, Daniel, Gustavo, Jackson, Layhon, Roberval, Tâmara, Victor, Vinícius Sutério, e outros que eu posso não ter citado, mas ainda contribuíram durante este trajeto.

Aos meus companheiros da sala de estudos durante meu longo período lá: João, a Rafa e Vinícius, pelas conversas aleatórias, ajudas e cafés.

Também às meninas do Lab 9, apesar do curto período que passamos juntos, sinto como se já nos conhecêssemos há anos, vou sentir saudades de vocês, Carol e Karen. E claro a você, Bruna F., melhor chefe, que participou comigo de vários dos momentos engraçados e outros muito reflexivos que tive nessa reta final.

Obrigado ainda a Luana, por mesmo estando longe físicamente, está sempre perto e acompanhando os acontecimentos da minha vida. Como do mesmo modo agradeço ao Fefo, mesmo com nossa competição de quem tinha o pior drama de pós graduando, me apoiou, me aconselhou e sempre me ajudou a distância com o que foi possível. Sem esquecer meus muitos agradecimentos aos meus queridos amigos, Bruna B. e Lucas, com quem compartilhei todos os tipos de momentos desde os mais difíceis a possivelmente os melhores desse peírodo, muito obrigado por serem tão especiais e estarem sempre comigo, me ajudando a não desistir e me encorajando a seguir em frente, sempre.

Também agradeço a Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de nível Superior (CAPES) pela bolsa de estudos de mestrado.

Enfim, para todas as outras pessoas que estiveram presentes neste processo, meu muito obrigado pela contribuição nessa trajetória e a quem sou hoje.

"Don't you tell me what you think that I could be, I'm the one at the sail, I'm the master of my sea". -Believer, Imagine Dragons.

RESUMO

MATSUE FILHO, Sérgio. ESTABILIZAÇÃO DE SISTEMAS NÃO LINEARES COM SALTOS MARKOVIANOS. 30 f. Dissertação – Programa de Pós-graduação em Engenharia Elétrica, Universidade Tecnológica Federal do Paraná. Cornélio Procópio, 2018.

Sistemas sujeitos a saltos Markovianos têm recebido notável atenção nos últimos anos. Por esta razão foram desenvolvidas, neste trabalho, condições que garantem a estabilidade para um certo tipo de sistema não linear sujeito a saltos Markovianos. De modo a ilustrar o resultado teórico desenvolvido, este trabalho apresenta uma aplicação em tempo real para uma válvula automotiva.

Palavras-chave: Estabilidade, Sistemas Sujeitos a saltos markovianos.

ABSTRACT

MATSUE FILHO, Sérgio. STABILIZATION OF NONLINEAR MARKOV JUMP SYSTEMS. 30 f. Dissertação – Programa de Pós-graduação em Engenharia Elétrica, Universidade Tecnológica Federal do Paraná. Cornélio Procópio, 2018.

Markov Jump Systems have received notable attention in last few years. For this reason conditions that guarantee stability for a certain type of nonlinear Markov Jump System were developed in this work. Here is presented a real-time application in an automotive valve, thus illustrating the theoretical result developed.

Keywords: Stability, Markov Jump Systems.

SUMÁRIO

 INTRODUÇÃO ARTIGO: "STABILIZATION OF MARKOV JUMP SYSTEMS WITH 	10
NONLINEAR TERMS"	11
2.1 INTRODUCTION	11
2.2 NOTATIONS AND AUXILIARY RESULTS	13
2.2.1 Preliminary results for autonomous Markov Jump linear system	14
2.3 MAIN RESULT	16
2.3.1 Control with no mode observation	18
2.4 APPLICATION: CONTROL OF AN AUTOMOTIVE THROTTLE VALVE	19
2.4.1 Modeling and Identification	20
2.4.1.1 Modeling the Throttle as a Markov jump system with nonlinear terms	21
2.4.2 Control Design	22
2.5 CONCLUDING REMARKS	23
3 APPENDIX - PROOF OF THEOREM 2.3.1	25
REFERÊNCIAS	28

1 INTRODUÇÃO

Sistemas com saltos Markovianos têm recebido consideravel atenção nos últimos anos, devido à sua capacidade de modelar plantas que estão sujeitas a variações abruptas em sua estrutura, seja por falha nos componentes, por mudanças repentinas nos ambiente, etc. Estes sistemas são uma classe especial de sistemas estocásticos, onde cada modo de operação corresponde a um sistema dinâmico, e a transição entre estes modos é regida por uma cadeia de Markov. Alguns exemplos de aplicações podem ser encontrados em economia (COSTA; de Oliveira, 2012), robótica (VARGAS et al., 2013b), controle de potência (UGRINOVSKII; POTA, 2005), e filtragem (WANG et al., 2004; YIN et al., 2011; DONG et al., 2011).

Controle de sistemas não lineares com saltos Markovianos, podem ser encontrados em (WU et al., 2014; LI et al., 2015; YAO; GUO, 2013; ZHA et al., 2017), e estratégias sliding-mode podem ser encontradas em (WU et al., 2010; LI et al., 2016; LIU et al., 2011; WU et al., 2012; LI et al., 2014).

Na literatura, podemos encontrar trabalhos que apresentam condições para estabilização de sistemas não lineares com saltos Markovianos, tais como (KHASMIN-SKII et al., 2007; ZHANG; BOUKAS, 2009; ZHAO; GUPTA, 2015; VARGAS et al., 2017; COSTA et al., 2013, 2006; LONG; ZHONG, 2017). Aqui, contribuímos para o tópico de estabilidade em segundo momento de sistemas não lineares com saltos Markovianos através de novos resultados que garantem a estabilidade para o sistema não linear abordado.

2 ARTIGO: "STABILIZATION OF MARKOV JUMP SYSTEMS WITH NONLINEAR TERMS"

2.1 INTRODUCTION

In the recent years, special attention has been given to systems subject to Markov-driven events, since they are useful to model dynamical systems whose structure is subject to abrupt random variations. Examples of applications can be found in robotics (VARGAS et al., 2013b), economics (COSTA; de Oliveira, 2012; OLIVEIRA et al., 2009), direct current motors (OLIVEIRA et al., 2014; VARGAS et al., 2015, 2013a; YIN et al., 2014), and filtering (YIN et al., 2011; DONG et al., 2011).

Control of nonlinear Markov jump systems can be found in (WU et al., 2014; LI et al., 2015; YAO; GUO, 2013; ZHA et al., 2017), and sliding-mode strategies can be found in (WU et al., 2010; LI et al., 2016; LIU et al., 2011; WU et al., 2012; LI et al., 2014).

In the literature, we can find works presenting stabilizing conditions for nonlinear Markov jump systems in (KHASMINSKII et al., 2007; ZHANG; BOUKAS, 2009; ZHAO; GUPTA, 2015; VARGAS et al., 2017; COSTA et al., 2013, 2006; LONG; ZHONG, 2017). Here, we contribute to the topic of second moment stability of nonlinear Markov jump systems through novel results that guarantee such stability for the underlying nonlinear stochastic system.

We explore in this work the following Markov jump system. Let

$$x(t) = \begin{bmatrix} x_1(t) & x_2(t) \end{bmatrix}' \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

be the system state, in which $x_1(t)$ and $x_2(t)$ represent partitions. The system under

study reads as

$$d\begin{bmatrix} x_{1}(t) \\ x_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A_{11,\theta(t)} & A_{12,\theta(t)} \\ A_{21,\theta(t)} & A_{22,\theta(t)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{1}(t) \\ x_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} g_{\theta(t),1}(x(t)) \\ \vdots \\ g_{\theta(t),q}(x(t)) \\ \vdots \\ g_{\theta(t),n}(x(t)) \end{bmatrix} dt$$

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} \emptyset_{q} \\ B_{\theta(t)} \end{bmatrix} (\Psi(x(t)) + \gamma(x(t))u(t)) dt + H_{\theta(t)}dw(t), \qquad (2.1)$$

for all $t \ge 0$, $x(0) = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, where w(t) denotes a standard *r*-dimensional Brownian motion, and $\{\theta(t)\}$ denotes an irreducible continuous-time Markov process having $S = \{1, ..., N\}$ as state space, \emptyset_q represents a null-square q-dimensional matrix, and $\gamma(x)$ and $\Psi(x)$ represent nonlinear functions, where $\gamma(x)$ is non-singular. The functionals $g_{\theta(t),\ell}(x(t))$, $\ell = 1, ..., N$ are given. We assume that x(0), w(t), and $\theta(t)$ are mutually independent random variables for each $t \ge 0$. The values of the matrices $A_{11,\theta(t)}, A_{12,\theta(t)}, A_{21,\theta(t)}, A_{22,\theta(t)}, B_{\theta(t)}, H_{\theta(t)}$ are given, and $B_{\theta(t)}$ admits a Moore-Penrose inverse matrix.

Inspired on the state-feedback linearization method, which is an useful technique that converts a nonlinear state equation into a linear equation [(KHALIL, 2002),pg. 506], we purposefully define the controller u(t) as

$$u(t) = \gamma^{-1}(x(t)) \left[-\psi(x(t)) + K_{\theta(t)}x(t) - B_{\theta(t)}^{+} \begin{bmatrix} g_{\theta(t),q+1}(x(t)) \\ \vdots \\ g_{\theta(t),q+s}(x(t)) \end{bmatrix} \right], \quad (2.2)$$

where $B_{\theta(t)}^+$ represents the Moore-Penrose inverse of $B_{\theta(t)}$.

Substituting the controller (2.2) into (2.1), we obtain

$$dx(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{A}_{\theta(t)}x(t) + \begin{bmatrix} g_{\theta(t),1}(x(t)) \\ \vdots \\ g_{\theta(t),q}(x(t)) \\ \emptyset \end{bmatrix} \end{pmatrix} dt + H_{\theta(t)}dw(t), \quad \forall t \ge 0, \ x(0) = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad (2.3)$$

where

$$\tilde{A}_{i} := \begin{bmatrix} A_{11,\theta(t)} & A_{12,\theta(t)} \\ A_{21,\theta(t)} + B_{\theta(t)} K_{\theta(t),1} & A_{22,\theta(t)} + B_{\theta(t)} K_{\theta(t),2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.4)

From now on, we restrict our study to the controlled system (2.3) subject to (2.4).

Remark 2.1.1. Systems (2.1) and (2.3) are equivalent only if (2.2) is used. In the sequence, we derive conditions to compute $K_{\theta(t),1}$ and $K_{\theta(t),2}$ in (2.4) in a way that (2.3) becomes second moment stable, a concept defined next.

Definition 2.1.1. ((ARNOLD, 1974, Defn. 11.3.1, p. 188)(VARGAS et al., 2017, Defn. 1.1, p. 333)). The nonlinear Markov jump system in (2.3) is second moment stable if there exists some constant $c = c(x_0)$ such that

$$\mathbf{E}[\|x(t)\|^2] \le c, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Consider now the elements of the vector x(t) written explicitly in the form $x(t) \equiv [x_{[1]}(t), \dots, x_{[n]}(t)]'.$

Assumption 2.1.1. [Adapted from (MAO, 2007, p.62, Cor.4.5)]. There exist two constant $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 > 0$ such that

$$x_{[\ell]}g_{i,\ell}(x) \le \alpha_2 + \alpha_1 x_{[\ell]}^2, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad i = 1, \dots, N, \quad \ell = 1, \dots, q.$$

Remark 2.1.2. Assumption 2.1.1 is known in the literature as linear growth, and it is used frequently, (LI et al., 2017).

2.2 NOTATIONS AND AUXILIARY RESULTS

The n-dimensional Euclidean space is denoted by \mathbb{R}^n , and its corresponding norm is represented by $\|.\|$. The trace operator is represented by $\operatorname{tr} \{.\}$. The notation of the identity matrix on $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is I_n . The symbol $\mathbb{1}_{\mathscr{C}}$ means the Dirac measure of \mathscr{C} , i.e., if condition \mathscr{C} is true, then $\mathbb{1}_{\mathscr{C}}$ is equal to 1, otherwise it is equal to 0. Given two matrices $U \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ and $V \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$, the square diagonal matrix made up by V and U is represented by $\operatorname{diag}(V, U)$. In case of $\operatorname{diag}(V_1, \ldots, V_N)$, we set $\operatorname{diag}(V_i)_{\{i=1,\ldots,N\}}$.

The homogeneous process $\theta = \{(\theta_t, \mathscr{F}, t \in \mathbb{R}^+)\}$ is right continuous and takes

values on the set S. We assume also that

$$P(\theta_{t+h=j}|\theta_t = i) = \begin{cases} \pi_{ij}h + o(h), & i \neq j, \\ 1 + \pi_{ij}h + o(h), & i = j, \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

where $[(\pi_{ij})]$ is the stationary infinite-dimensional transition rate matrix of $\{\theta\}$ with $0 \leq \pi_{ij}, i \neq j$, and $0 \leq \pi_i := -\pi_{ii} = \sum_{\{j:j\neq i\}} \pi_{ij} \leq \rho$ for all $i \in \mathscr{S}$, o(h) means an infinitesimal of higher order than h, i.e., $\lim_{h\downarrow 0} \frac{o(h)}{h} = 0$. Denote $p_i(t) := \mathbb{P}(\theta_t = i)$ for any $i \in S$.

The notation \mathbb{S}^m will be used to refer to the set of symmetric positive-definite matrices of dimension n.

Lemma 2.2.1. (*Projection Lemma* (*PIPELEERS et al.*, 2009, p.511)). Given a symmetric matrix $-Z \in \mathbb{S}^m$, and two arbitrary matrices U and V of column dimension m, then there exists an unstructured matrix X that satisfies

$$U'XV + V'X'U + Z < 0, (2.7)$$

if and only if the following projection inequalities with respect to X are satisfied:

$$N_U'ZN_U < 0, (2.8)$$

$$N_V'ZN_V < 0, (2.9)$$

where N_U and N_V are arbitrary matrices whose columns form a basis for the null spaces of U and V, respectively.

2.2.1 PRELIMINARY RESULTS FOR AUTONOMOUS MARKOV JUMP LINEAR SYSTEM

Consider the autonomous Markov jump linear system

$$\dot{z}(t) = A_{\theta(t)} z(t), \quad t \ge 0, \quad \theta(0) = \theta_0, \quad z(0) = z_0.$$
 (2.10)

Definition 2.2.1. ((COSTA et al., 2013, Defn. 3.2 p.36)(FRAGOSO; COSTA, 2005b, Defn. 3.2, p.1173)). We say the system in (2.10) is mean-square stable if $\mathbb{E}\left[\|z(t)\|^2\right] \rightarrow 0$ as $t \rightarrow +\infty$ for all $z_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

The following result presents an equivalent condition to check the mean-square

stability of (2.10).

Proposition 2.2.1. ((COSTA et al., 2013, Thm. 3.21 p.48)(FRAGOSO; COSTA, 2005a, Thm. 4.19, p.1179)). The system in (2.10) is mean-square stable if and only if there exist matrices P_i 's on \mathbb{S}^n such that

$$A_iP_i+P_iA_i'+\sum_{j\in S}\pi_{ji}P_j<0,\quad i=1,\ldots,N.$$

The next result will be useful in the proof of the main result of this paper.

Lemma 2.2.2. The system in (2.10) is mean square stable if there exist matrices P_i 's on \mathbb{S}^n and X_i 's on $\mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$ such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{i}X_{i} + X_{i}'A_{i}' & P_{i} + A_{i}X_{i} - X_{i}' & R_{i} \\ P_{i} + X_{i}'A_{i}' - X_{i} & -X_{i} - X_{i}' & -X_{i} \\ R_{i} & -X_{i}' & A_{i}X_{i} + X_{i}'A_{i}' - R_{i} \end{bmatrix} < 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$
 (2.11)
where $R_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \pi_{ji}P_{j}.$

Proof of Lemma 2.2.2. Set $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{3n \times 3n}$ as

$$Z = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & P_i & R_i \\ P_i & 0 & 0 \\ R_i & 0 & -R_i \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.12)

Define
$$N_U = \begin{bmatrix} I \\ A'_i \\ I \end{bmatrix}$$
 and $N_V = \begin{bmatrix} -I \\ I \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$. It follows that
$$N'_U Z N_U = \begin{bmatrix} I & A_i & I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & P_i & R_i \\ P_i & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I \\ A'_i \end{bmatrix}$$

and that

$$N_{V}'ZN_{V} = \begin{bmatrix} -I & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & P_{i} & R_{i} \\ P_{i} & 0 & 0 \\ R_{i} & 0 & -R_{i} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -I \\ I \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = -2P_{i} < 0.$$
(2.14)

Note that (2.13) holds if and only if (2.10) is mean square stable (see Prop. 2.2.1). Now, define U and V so that the columns of N_U and N_V form a basis for the null space of U and V; for instance, set $U = \begin{bmatrix} A'_i & -I & 0 \\ 0 & -I & A'_i \end{bmatrix}$ so that

$$UN_U = \begin{bmatrix} A'_i & -I & 0\\ 0 & -I & A'_i \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I\\ A'_i\\ I \end{bmatrix} = 0;$$
(2.15)

and $V = \begin{bmatrix} I & I & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I \end{bmatrix}$ to obtain

$$VN_V = \begin{bmatrix} I & I & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -I \\ I \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = 0.$$
(2.16)

Take $X_{11,i} = X_{22,i} = X_i$, and $X_{12,i} = X_{21,i} = \emptyset$. If the next inequality holds

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & P_{i} & R_{i} \\ P_{i} & 0 & 0 \\ R_{i} & 0 & -R_{i} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} A_{i} & 0 \\ -I & -I \\ 0 & A_{i} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} X_{11,i} & X_{12,i} \\ X_{21,i} & X_{22,i} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I & I & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} X'_{11,i} & X'_{21,i} \\ X'_{12,i} & X'_{22,i} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A'_{i} & -I & 0 \\ 0 & -I & A'_{i} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} A_{i}X_{i} + X'_{i}A'_{i} & P_{i} + A_{i}X_{i} - X'_{i} & R_{i} \\ P_{i} + X'_{i}A'_{i} - X_{i} & -X_{i} - X'_{i} & -X_{i} \\ R_{i} & -X'_{i} & A_{i}X_{i} + X'_{i}A'_{i} - R_{i} \end{bmatrix} < 0, \qquad (2.17)$$

then Lemma 2.2.1 implies that $N'_U ZN_U$ and from (2.13) $A_i P_i + P_i A'_i + R_i < 0$, and Proposition 2.2.1 completes the proof.

2.3 MAIN RESULT

Consider the second moment matrix

$$\mathscr{X}_{i}(t) = \mathbb{E}[x(t)x(t)' \mathbb{1}_{\theta(t)=i}], \quad i = 1, \dots, N, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

$$(2.18)$$

Consider also the symmetric, positive semi-definite matrix $V_i(t)$ on \mathbb{S}^m , solution

of the matrix differential equation (and α_1 and α_2 as in Assumption 2.1.1)

$$\dot{V}_{i}(t) = V_{i}(t) \left(\tilde{A}_{i} + \alpha_{1}I\right)' + \left(\tilde{A}_{i} + \alpha_{1}I\right)V_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \pi_{ji}V_{j}(t) + H_{i}H_{i}'p_{i}(t) + 2\alpha_{2}I, \quad i = 1, \dots, N, \quad \forall t \ge t_{0}, \quad V_{i}(t_{0}) \in \mathbb{S}^{m}(2.19)$$

where the closed-loop matrices \tilde{A}_i , i = 1, ..., N, satisfy (2.4).

Theorem 2.3.1. There exists some $t_0 \ge 0$ such that

$$\operatorname{tr}\{\mathscr{X}_{i}(t)\} \leq \operatorname{tr}\{V_{i}(t)\}, \quad i = 1, \dots, N, \quad \forall t \geq t_{0},$$

$$(2.20)$$

where V(t) satisfies (2.19) with $V(t_0) = \mathscr{X}(t_0)$.

The proof of Theorem 2.3.1 can be found in Appendix.

Remark 2.3.1. Provided that V(t) is uniformly bounded, then $E[||x(t)||^2] = tr\{E[x(t)x(t)']\} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} tr\{\mathscr{X}_i(t)\} \text{ is bounded because it follows from Theorem}$ 2.3.1.

Now, we are able to present the main result of this paper.

Theorem 2.3.2. If there exist unstructured matrices $X_{1,i}, X_{2,i}, Y_{1,i}, Y_{2,i}$, and matrices P_i 's on \mathbb{S}^n such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} M_{i} + M_{i}' + \alpha_{1}(X_{i} + X_{i}') & P_{i} + M_{i} + \alpha_{1}X_{i} - X_{i}' & R_{i} \\ P_{i} + M_{i}' + X_{i}'\alpha_{1} - X_{i} & -X_{i} - X_{i}' & -X_{i} \\ R_{i} & -X_{i}' & M_{i} + M_{i}' + \alpha_{1}(X_{i} + X_{i}') - R_{i} \end{bmatrix} < 0, \quad (2.21)$$

 $i=1,\ldots,N$, with $X_i = \text{diag}(X_{1,i},X_{2,i})$, then the autonomous Markov jump linear system

$$\dot{z}(t) = \left(\tilde{A}_{\theta(t)} + \alpha_1 I\right) z(t), \quad z(0) = z_0, \tag{2.22}$$

is mean square stable, where M_i is defined below:

$$M_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11,i}X_{1,i} & A_{12,i}X_{2,i} \\ A_{21,i}X_{1,i} + B_{i}Y_{1,i} & A_{22,i}X_{2,i} + B_{i}Y_{2,i} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.23)

The control gain K_i , i = 1, ..., N, required in (2.2), and also in (2.4), is given by

$$K_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} Y_{1,i} X_{1,i}^{-1} & Y_{2,i} X_{2,i}^{-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.24)

Proof of Theorem 2.3.2.

Consider

$$\tilde{A}_{i}X_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11,i}X_{1,i} & A_{12,i}X_{2,i} \\ A_{21,i}X_{1,i} + B_{i}Y_{1,i} & A_{22,i}X_{2,i} + B_{i}Y_{2,i} \end{bmatrix}, \quad i = 1, \dots, N.$$
(2.25)

Setting $Y_{1,i} = K_{1,i}X_{1,i}$ and $Y_{2,i} = K_{2,i}X_{2,i}$, we obtain

$$\tilde{A}_{i}X_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11,i}X_{1,i} & A_{12,i}X_{2,i} \\ (A_{21,i} + B_{i}K_{1,i})X_{1,i} & (A_{22,i} + B_{i}K_{2,i})X_{2,i} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.26)

Substituting (2.26) into (2.21), we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} (\tilde{A}_{i} + \alpha_{1}I)X_{i} + X_{i}'(\tilde{A}_{i}' + \alpha_{1}I) & P_{i} + (\tilde{A}_{i} + \alpha_{1}I)X_{i} - X_{i}' & R_{i} \\ P_{i} + X_{i}'(\tilde{A}_{i}' + \alpha_{1}I) - X_{i} & -X_{i} - X_{i}' & -X_{i} \\ R_{i} & -X_{i}' & (\tilde{A}_{i} + \alpha_{1}I)X_{i} + X_{i}'(\tilde{A}_{i}' + \alpha_{1}I) - R_{i} \end{bmatrix} < 0,$$

$$(2.27)$$

and using (2.27) and Lemma 2.2.2, we conclude that

$$\dot{z}(t) = (\tilde{A}_{\theta(t)} + \alpha_1 I) z(t), \qquad (2.28)$$

is mean-square stable. \Box Let us now recall an important result form the literature.

Proposition 2.3.1. ((FRAGOSO; COSTA, 2005a, Thm 5.6), (COSTA et al., 2013, Thm. 3.25, p. 52),(VARGAS et al., 2017, Prop. 3.1, p. 335)). If the system in (2.22) is mean-square stable, then the limit $\lim_{t\to\infty} V(t)$ in (2.19) does exist and it does not depend on the initial condition $V(t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$.

The existence of $\lim_{t\to\infty} V(t)$ from Proposition 2.3.1 assures that V(t) is uniformly bounded; this fact, Theorem 2.3.1, and Remark 2.3.1 allow us to conclude that (2.1) is second moment stable. This assertion is summarized in the next corollary.

Corollary 2.3.1. Under the conditions of Theorem 2.3.2, the nonlinear Markov jump system in (2.1) is second moment stable.

2.3.1 CONTROL WITH NO MODE OBSERVATION

In this section, we are interested in the control law

$$u(t) = Kx(t), \forall t \ge 0.$$
(2.29)

Note that K in (2.29) does not depend on $\theta(t)$, in contrast with (2.2). The next result is immediate from Theorem 2.3.2.

Corollary 2.3.2. If there exist unstructured matrices X_1, X_2, Y_1, Y_2 , and symmetric positive-definite matrix P_i 's on \mathbb{S}^n such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} M_{i} + M_{i}' + \alpha_{1}X + X'\alpha_{1} & P_{i} + M_{i} + \alpha_{1}X - X' & R_{i} \\ P_{i} + M_{i}' + X'\alpha_{1} - X & -X - X' & -X \\ R_{i} & -X' & M_{i} + M_{i}' + \alpha_{1}X + X'\alpha_{1} - R_{i} \end{bmatrix} < 0, \quad (2.30)$$

with $X = \text{diag}(X_1, X_2)$, then the autonomous Markov jump linear system

$$\dot{z}(t) = (\tilde{A}_{\theta(t)} + \alpha_1 I) z(t), \quad z(0) = z_0,$$
(2.31)

is mean square stable, where M is defined below:

$$M_i = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11,i}X_1 & A_{12,i}X_2 \\ A_{21,i}X_1 + B_iY_1 & A_{22,i}X_2 + B_iY_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The control gain K, required in (2.2), and also in (2.4), is given by

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} Y_1 X_1^{-1} & Y_2 X_2^{-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.32)

2.4 APPLICATION: CONTROL OF AN AUTOMOTIVE THROTTLE VALVE

Practical experiments were carried out to illustrate our main theoretical findings. The experiments were based on a real-time automotive valve referred to as throttle.

The automotive throttle valve consists of a circular plate that moves around a central axis. It regulates the power produced by spark-ignition engines, through controlling the amount of air that flows into the combustion chamber.

The experiments were conducted in a laboratory testbed (see Figure 2.4.0.1), composed by the following equipments: a unity of Quanser Q4 real-time control board that allowed us to collect real-time data with MATLAB/Simulink software; the Quanser Q4 board data sampling was configured to 1 ms; a unity of Quanser VoltPAQ-X1 power amplifier to supply the electrical current and voltage consumed by the throttle; and a four-years-old unity of Throttle Body code number 036133062A removed from a crashed Volkswagen Golf 1.6.

The throttle is assembled with an internal sensor of position, which measures



Figure 2.4.0.1: Laboratory testbed.

the range of operation of the throttle plate from 0 to 90 degrees, in equivalence to 0 to 5 V, respectively. The velocity is computed by a first-order numerical derivative of the valve's position. The electric power consumed by the throttle was measured by a current sensor. For convenience, we denote the position, velocity, electrical current, and input voltage by $x_{[1]}(t), x_{[2]}(t), x_{[3]}(t)$, and u(t), respectively.

2.4.1 MODELING AND IDENTIFICATION

The model used here is based on the traditional, physically driven continuoustime linear model (VASAK et al., 2007; MORARI et al., 2003):

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_{[1]}(t) \\ x_{[2]}(t) \\ x_{[3]}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & a_{12} & 0 \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & a_{23} \\ 0 & a_{32} & a_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{[1]}(t) \\ x_{[2]}(t) \\ x_{[3]}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ b \end{bmatrix} u(t)$$
(2.33)

In order to identify the parameters a_{12}, \ldots, b , pseudo-random-signals were applied as input of the throttle device in an open-loop configuration during 20 seconds, which resulted in 20.000 data points. The collected data for position and velocity, were used to estimate the parameters of (2.33) through minimizing the corresponding mean-square error, see Figure 2.4.1.1.



Figure 2.4.1.1: Simulated and real-time data.

2.4.1.1 MODELING THE THROTTLE AS A MARKOV JUMP SYSTEM WITH NONLINEAR TERMS

Two operation modes were studied. The first mode, i.e, $\theta(t) = 1$, represented the valve working on perfect conditions; and the second mode, i.e, $\theta(t) = 2$, represented a failure, which imposed. The laboratory was arranged so as to impose the valve working at 25% of its input nominal voltage. In the failure mode, we imposed the throttle velocity be corrupted by the square root of the current, made for sake of illustration. This constraint justifies the rightmost term of the system below.

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_{[1]}(t) \\ x_{[2]}(t) \\ x_{[3]}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & a_{12,\theta(t)} & 0 \\ a_{21,\theta(t)} & a_{22,\theta(t)} & a_{23,\theta(t)} \\ 0 & a_{32,\theta(t)} & a_{33,\theta(t)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{[1]}(t) \\ x_{[2]}(t) \\ x_{[1]}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ b_{\theta(t)} \end{bmatrix} u(t) + \begin{bmatrix} |x_{[3]}(t)|^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (2.34)$$

The parameters of (2.34) are shown in Table 2.4.1.1.

Parameters	Mode 1 $(\boldsymbol{\theta}(t) = 1)$	Mode 2 $(\boldsymbol{\theta}(t) = 2)$
$a_{12,\theta(t)}$	0.8106	0.8106
$a_{21,\theta(t)}$	-58.08	-58.08
$a_{22,\theta(t)}$	-21.11	-21.11
$a_{23,\theta(t)}$	-7019	-7019
$a_{33,\theta(t)}$	-64.34	-64.34
$b_{\theta(t)}$	-0.5815	-0.145375

Table 2.4.1.1: Parameters of the system in (2.34).



Figure 2.4.2.1: Verification of values that satisfy the Assumption 2.1.1

2.4.2 CONTROL DESIGN

As can be seen in Figure 2.4.2, Assumption 2.1.1 is satisfied when $\alpha_1 = 0.45$ and $\alpha_2 = 2$, i. e.,

$$0.45x^2 + 2 \ge x |x|^{1/2}.$$

The purpose of this section is to illustrate state-feedback with no Markov jump observation, the scheme shown in (2.29). For this purpose, we computed the LMIs of Corolary 2.3.2 with the next probability matrix:

$$\pi = \begin{bmatrix} -5 & 5\\ 5 & -5 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.35)

A gain that turns the LMIs in (2.3.2) feasible is

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} -0.5 & -0.005 & -0.5 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.36)



Figure 2.4.2.2: Model configuration.

This gain was implemented in the laboratory testbed working under normal and failure modes, driven by Markov jumps, with reference signal r_k switching either at $r_k = 1.41$ or $r_k = 0$.

Figure 2.4.2.3 summarizes the mean and standard deviation of trajectories for 100 distinct evaluations. As can be seen, the system showed a stable behavior, which confirms the results of Theorem 2.3.2 and Corollaries 2.3.1 and 2.3.2.

2.5 CONCLUDING REMARKS

The main contribution of this work is the relatively easy-to-check LMI-conditions of Theorem 2.3.2 that guarantee the second moment stability of a certain type of nonlinear Markov jump systems.

Furthermore this work presents data from real-time experiments, designed to control an automotive throttle valve in practice. Experimental data support the potential of our approach for applications.



Figure 2.4.2.3: Mean and standard deviation

3 APPENDIX - PROOF OF THEOREM 2.3.1

Let us define the operator $\mathscr{G}_i : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n, i = 1, \dots, N$, as

$$\mathscr{G}_{i}(x) = \begin{bmatrix} g_{i,1}(x) \\ \vdots \\ g_{i,q}(x) \\ \emptyset \end{bmatrix}, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$
(3.1)

In the next result, o(h) means an infinitesimal of higher order than h, i.e., $\lim_{h\downarrow 0} o(h)/h$ equals zero.

Proposition 3.0.1. ((FRAGOSO; COSTA, 2005a, Lem. 4.2), (COSTA et al., 2013, Ch. 3)). Assume that c(t) on $\mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$ is \mathscr{F}_t -measurable and that $c_i(t) := \mathbb{E}[c(t)\mathbb{1}_{\theta(t)=i}]$ exists. Then $\mathbb{E}[c(t)d(\mathbb{1}_{\theta(t)=i})] = \sum_{j=1}^N \pi_{ji}c_j(t)dt + o(dt)$.

Using the Itô's rule in the term $\mathscr{X}_i(t) = \mathbb{E}\left[x(t)x(t)'\mathbb{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right]$, we can write $d\mathscr{X}_i(t)$ as (e.g.(COSTA et al., 2013, Prop. 3.28, p. 56))

$$d\mathbf{E}\left[x(t)x(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] = \mathbf{E}\left[dx(t)dx(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[dx(t)x(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[x(t)dx(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[x(t)x(t)'d\left(\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right)\right].$$
(3.2)

Next, each term in the right-hand side of (3.2) is evaluated. The first term can be developed as follows:

$$\mathbf{E}\left[dx(t)dx(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] = \mathbf{E}\left[H_{\theta(t)}dw(t)dw(t)'H_{\theta(t)}\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] = H_iH_i'p_i(t)dt.$$
(3.3)

The second term in the right-hand side of (3.2) is identical to (using notation from (2.18))

$$E\left[dx(t)x(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] = E\left[\left(\tilde{A}_{\theta(t)}x(t) + \mathscr{G}_{\theta(t)}(x(t))\right)x(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right]dt + E\left[H_{\theta}(t)dw(t)x(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] = \tilde{A}_{i}\mathscr{X}_{i}(t)dt + E\left[\mathscr{G}_{\theta(t)}(x(t))x(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right]dt.$$
(3.4)

The last term in the right-hand side of (3.2) follows from Proposition 3.0.1, which gives

$$\mathbf{E}\left[x(t)x(t)'d(\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i})\right] = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \pi_{ji}\mathscr{X}_{j}(t)dt + o(dt).$$
(3.5)

Combining (3.2)-(3.5) yields

$$\dot{\mathscr{X}}_{i} = \mathscr{X}_{i}(t)\tilde{A}'_{i} + \tilde{A}\mathscr{X}_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \pi_{ji}\mathscr{X}_{j}(t) + H_{i}H'_{i}p_{i}(t) + \mathbf{E}\left[x(t)\mathscr{G}_{\theta(t)}\left(x(t)\right)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right] + \mathbf{E}\left[\mathscr{G}_{\theta(t)}\left(x(t)\right)x(t)'\mathbf{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right].$$
(3.6)

Applying the trace operator in the rightmost element of (3.6), we obtain

$$\operatorname{tr} \left\{ E \left[\begin{bmatrix} g_{\theta(t),1}(x(t)) \\ \vdots \\ g_{\theta(t),q}(x(t)) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} [x_{[1]}(t), \dots, x_{[n]}(t)] \\ 1 \\ \theta(t) = i \right\} \right\}$$
$$= E \left[\operatorname{tr} \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} g_{\theta(t),1}(x(t)) \\ \vdots \\ g_{\theta(t),q}(x(t)) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} [x_{[1]}(t), \dots, x_{[n]}(t)] \\ 1 \\ \theta(t) = i \right\} \right]$$
$$= E \left[\operatorname{tr} \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} g_{\theta(t),1}x_{[1]}(x(t)) & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & g_{\theta(t),2}x_{[1]}(x(t)) & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & g_{\theta(t),q}x_{[1]}(x(t)) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \\ 1 \\ \theta(t) = i \right\} \right].$$
(3.7)

Using Assumption 2.1.1 in (3.7), we have

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{ \mathbf{E}\left[\mathscr{G}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}(t)}\left(\boldsymbol{x}(t)\right)\boldsymbol{x}(t)^{\prime}\mathbf{1}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}(t)=i}\right]\right\} \leq \mathbf{E}\left[\operatorname{tr}\left\{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\begin{bmatrix}\boldsymbol{x}_{[1]}^{2} & \dots & \boldsymbol{0}\\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ \boldsymbol{0} & \dots & \boldsymbol{x}_{[q]}^{2}\end{bmatrix}\mathbf{1}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}(t)=i} + 2\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}\boldsymbol{I}\right\}\right].$$
 (3.8)

The inequality in (3.8) results in

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{E\left[\mathscr{G}_{\theta(t)}\left(x(t)\right)x(t)'\mathbb{1}_{\theta(t)=i}\right]\right\} \leq \operatorname{tr}\left\{\alpha_{1}\mathscr{X}_{i}(t)+2\alpha_{2}I\right\}.$$
(3.9)

Now, by using the trace operator on both sides of (3.6), together with (3.9),

we obtain

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{\mathscr{X}_{i}(t)\right\} \leq \operatorname{tr}\left\{\mathscr{X}_{i}(t)\left(\widetilde{A}_{i}+\alpha_{1}I\right)'+\left(\widetilde{A}_{i}+\alpha_{1}I\right)\mathscr{X}_{i}(t)\right.\\\left.+\sum_{j=1}^{N}\pi_{ji}\mathscr{X}_{j}(t)+H_{i}H_{i}'p_{i}(t)+2\alpha_{2}I\right\}.$$
(3.10)

With V(t) as in (2.19), $V(t_0) = X(t_0)$, we obtain tr $\{X_i(t)\} \leq \text{tr} \{V_i(t)\}$, for $i = 1, \ldots, N$, since $\varepsilon > 0$ arbitrarily taken. The result, then follows from (2.19) and (3.10).

REFERÊNCIAS

ARNOLD, L. Stochastic differential equations: Theory and applications. Hoboken, NJ, USA: Wiley-Interscience, 1974.

COSTA, O. L. V.; de Oliveira, A. Optimal mean-variance control for discrete-time linear systems with Markovian jumps and multiplicative noises. Automatica, v. 48, n. 2, p. 304–315, 2012.

COSTA, O. L. V.; FRAGOSO, M. D.; MARQUES, R. P. Discrete-time Markov jump linear systems. [S.l.]: Springer Science & Business Media, 2006.

COSTA, O. L. V.; FRAGOSO, M. D.; TODOROV, M. G. **Continuous-Time Markov Jump Linear Systems**. New York: Springer-Verlag, 2013. (Series: Probability and Its Applications).

DONG, H. et al. Robust \mathscr{H}_{∞} filtering for Markovian jump systems with randomly occurring nonlinearities and sensor saturation: The finite-horizon case. **IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing**, IEEE, v. 59, n. 7, p. 3048–3057, 2011.

FRAGOSO, M.; COSTA, O. A unified approach for stochastic and mean square stability of continuous-time linear systems with Markovian jumping parameters and additive disturbances. **SIAM J. Control Optim.**, v. 44, n. 4, p. 1165–1191, 2005.

FRAGOSO, M. D.; COSTA, O. L. A unified approach for stochastic and mean square stability of continuous-time linear systems with Markovian jumping parameters and additive disturbances. **SIAM journal on control and optimization**, SIAM, v. 44, n. 4, p. 1165–1191, 2005.

KHALIL, H. K. Nonlinear systems, 3rd. Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA: Prentice Hall, Inc, 2002.

KHASMINSKII, R. Z.; ZHU, C.; YIN, G. Stability of regime-switching diffusions. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, v. 117, n. 8, p. 1037–1051, 2007.

LI, F. et al. Quantized control design for cognitive radio networks modeled as nonlinear semi-Markovian jump systems. **IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics**, IEEE, v. 62, n. 4, p. 2330–2340, 2015.

LI, H. et al. Fault-tolerant control of Markovian jump stochastic systems via the augmented sliding mode observer approach. **Automatica**, Elsevier, v. 50, n. 7, p. 1825–1834, 2014.

LI, H.; SHI, P.; YAO, D. Adaptive sliding-mode control of Markov jump nonlinear systems with actuator faults. **IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control**, IEEE, v. 62, n. 4, p. 1933–1939, 2017.

LI, H. et al. Observer-based adaptive sliding mode control for nonlinear Markovian jump systems. **Automatica**, Pergamon Press, Inc., Tarrytown, NY, USA, v. 64, n. C, p. 133–142, fev. 2016. ISSN 0005-1098. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.automatica.2015.11.007>.

LIU, M. et al. Fault-tolerant control for nonlinear Markovian jump systems via proportional and derivative sliding mode observer technique. **IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers**, IEEE, v. 58, n. 11, p. 2755–2764, 2011.

LONG, S.; ZHONG, S. Improved results for stochastic stabilization of a class of discrete-time singular Markovian jump systems with time-varying delay. Nonlinear Analysis: Hybrid Systems, Elsevier, v. 23, p. 11–26, 2017.

MAO, X. Stochastic differential equations and applications. [S.l.]: Woodhead Publishing, 2007.

MORARI, M.; BAOTIC, M.; BORRELLI, F. Hybrid systems modeling and control. **European Journal of Control**, Godalming, Surrey, UK: Springer-Verlag London Ltd., c1995-., v. 9, n. 2-3, p. 177–189, 2003.

OLIVEIRA, R. C. L. F. et al. Robust stability, H2 analysis and stabilisation of discretetime Markov jump linear systems with uncertain probability matrix. Internat. J. Control, v. 82, n. 3, p. 470 – 481, 2009.

OLIVEIRA, R. C. L. F. et al. Mode-independent H2-control of a DC motor modeled as a Markov jump linear system. **IEEE Trans. Control Systems Tech.**, v. 22, n. 5, p. 1915–1919, 2014.

PIPELEERS, G. et al. Extended LMI characterizations for stability and performance of linear systems. Systems & Control Letters, Elsevier, v. 58, n. 7, p. 510–518, 2009.

UGRINOVSKII, V.; POTA, H. R. Decentralized control of power systems via robust control of uncertain Markov jump parameter systems. International Journal of Control, Taylor & Francis, v. 78, n. 9, p. 662–677, 2005.

VARGAS, A. N. et al. Gradient-based optimization techniques for the design of static controllers for Markov jump linear systems with unobservable modes. Int. J. Numer. Model., v. 28, n. 3, p. 239–253, 2015.

VARGAS, A. N.; COSTA, E. F.; VAL, J. B. R. do. On the control of Markov jump linear systems with no mode observation: application to a DC motor device. Int. J. Robust Nonlinear Control, v. 23, n. 10, p. 1136–115, 2013.

VARGAS, A. N.; FURLONI, W.; VAL, J. B. R. do. Second moment constraints and the control problem of Markov jump linear systems. **Numer. Linear Algebra Appl.**, v. 20, n. 2, p. 357–368, 2013.

VARGAS, A. N.; PUJOL, G.; ACHO, L. Stability of Markov jump systems with quadratic terms and its application to RLC circuits. Journal of the Franklin Institute, Elsevier, v. 354, n. 1, p. 332–344, 2017.

VASAK, M. et al. Hybrid theory-based time-optimal control of an electronic throttle. **IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics**, IEEE, v. 54, n. 3, p. 1483–1494, 2007.

WANG, Z.; LAM, J.; LIU, X. Robust filtering for discrete-time Markovian jump delay systems. **IEEE Signal Processing Letters**, IEEE, v. 11, n. 8, p. 659–662, 2004.

WU, L.; SHI, P.; GAO, H. State estimation and sliding-mode control of markovian jump singular systems. **IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control**, IEEE, v. 55, n. 5, p. 1213–1219, 2010.

WU, L.; SU, X.; SHI, P. Sliding mode control with bounded \mathscr{L}_2 gain performance of Markovian jump singular time-delay systems. **Automatica**, Elsevier, v. 48, n. 8, p. 1929–1933, 2012.

WU, L.; SU, X.; SHI, P. Output feedback control of Markovian jump repeated scalar nonlinear systems. **IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control**, IEEE, v. 59, n. 1, p. 199–204, 2014.

YAO, X.; GUO, L. Composite anti-disturbance control for Markovian jump nonlinear systems via disturbance observer. **Automatica**, Elsevier, v. 49, n. 8, p. 2538–2545, 2013.

YIN, Y.; SHI, P.; LIU, F. Gain-scheduled robust fault detection on time-delay stochastic nonlinear systems. **IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics**, IEEE, v. 58, n. 10, p. 4908–4916, 2011.

YIN, Y. et al. Robust control for nonhomogeneous Markov jump processes: An application to DC motor device. Journal of the Franklin Institute, v. 351, n. 6, p. 3322 – 3338, 2014. ISSN 0016-0032.

ZHA, L. et al. Event-triggered output feedback h_{∞} control for networked Markovian jump systems with quantizations. Nonlinear Analysis: Hybrid Systems, Elsevier, v. 24, p. 146–158, 2017.

ZHANG, L.; BOUKAS, E.-K. Stability and stabilization of Markovian jump linear systems with partly unknown transition probabilities. **Automatica**, Elsevier, v. 42, n. 2, p. 463–468, 2009.

ZHAO, Y.; GUPTA, V. Feedback stabilization of Bernoulli jump nonlinear systems: A passivity-based approach. **IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control**, v. 60, n. 8, p. 2254–2259, 2015.